
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
****LARGE COURTROOM – SECOND FLOOR**** 

MONTICELLO, GEORGIA 
January 9, 2023 

6:00 p.m. 
*** The meeting will be live streamed Via Facebook on the Jasper County Georgia Facebook Page. 

 

I. Call to Order (6:00 p.m.)                                  

NAME PRESENT ABSENT LATE ARRIVED 

DISTRICT 1 – SHEILA G. JONES     
DISTRICT 2 – BRUCE HENRY, CHAIR     

DISTRICT 3 – DON JERNIGAN     

DISTRICT 4 – GERALD STUNKEL – VICE-CHAIR     

DISTRICT 5  - STEVEN LEDFORD     

  

 II.     Pledge of Allegiance –       

III.    Invocation – District 4 
         

 IV.    Approval of Agenda 
            

 V.      Consent Agenda –  
1.  Approval of Minutes: 

• November 21, 2022 -  Called Meeting Minutes 
• December 5, 2022 – Regular  Meeting Minutes 
• December 16, 2022 – Called Meeting Minutes 

  
2.   Check Register – Check #’s     66367-66659 
  

VI.   Public Hearing  
Public Hearings are conducted to allow public comments on specific advertised issues such as rezoning, 
ordinances, policy development and other legislative actions to be considered by the County 
Commissioners.  Following the public hearing, the Board of Commissioners will take action on each 
item presented below.  
 

1. A public hearing will be held for an amendment to Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article II., 
Sec. 105-28 and Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article VI. subsection 105-160. Both code 
sections are regarding divisions of land under the Minor Subdivision (aka Minor Plat) regulations. 
 

 
Presentation/Delegations allows scheduled speakers to address the Commission for not more than ten 
(10) minutes on specific topics or for recognition of citizens, county employees or other events by the 
Commissioners.   
 

 
 
The Citizens Comments section of the Agenda allows citizens who sign up to address the Commission 
for not more than three (3) minutes on specific topics.   The County Attorney will keep time.  Please  
be courteous of the 3 minute time limit. Comments noted from citizens via the Jasper County FB Page. 

VIII. Citizens Comments 

VII. Presentations/Delegations 



XIII. Executive Session 

IX. County Commissioner Items  
 

X.   Regular Agenda 

 
Appointments 

1. Appointment of Chairman 
2. Appointment of Vice-Chairman 
3. Appointment of County Attorney 
4. Appointment of County Clerk 

 
Business Items: 

 
1. Judicial Alternatives of Georgia Probation Services Agreement for Magistrate Court  
2. Minor Plat Division – Approval Process 
3. R-2 Zoning District Discussion 
4. Resolution Calling for an Election to Impose a County Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax 
5. Crack Sealing Bids Approval – Post Rd Sections 1, 2 & 3 
6. Senior Center 2009 Ford E-350 Van Condition and Status Update 
7. Amended Recreation Board Bylaws - Adoption  
8. Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings As Needed 

 

XI.   County Attorney Items 

XII.   County Manager Update 

 
 
 

Consultation with County attorney to discuss pending or potential litigation as provided by O.C.G.A.  
§50-14-2(1); Discussion of the future acquisition of real estate as provided by O.C.G.A. §50-14-3(4); 
and discussion on employment, compensation, or periodic evaluation of county employees as provided 
in O.C.G.A. § 50-14-3(6)  

 

XIV. Adjournment  
 
 
 
 
 
  



Consent Agenda – Item 1: 

 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Approval of Minutes 
 
Summary: 
 
 
Minutes have been completed for the Jasper County Board of Commissioners: 

 
• November 21, 2022 -  Called Meeting Minutes 
• December 5, 2022 – Regular  Meeting Minutes 
• December 16, 2022 – Called Meeting Minutes 

 
 

Background: 
 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Approve minutes for:  
 

• November 21, 2022 -  Called Meeting Minutes 
• December 5, 2022 – Regular  Meeting Minutes 
• December 16, 2022 – Called Meeting Minutes 
  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes November 21, 2022 – Called Meeting  
 

        
   Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

November 21, 2022 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

7:00 P.M. 
 
Chairman Henry called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 
Commissioners Present: Bruce Henry, Chairman, Gerald, Stunkel, Vice-Chairman, Don Jernigan, Sheila Jones 

and Steven Ledford.  

Staff: Mike Benton, County Manager, Larissa Ruark, Chief Accounting Officer, and David Ozburn, County 

Attorney.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 
Invocation:  Commissioner Sheila Jones 
 
Agenda Approval:  Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the agenda with the suggested change of 
adding HOST. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Consent Agenda: None 
 
Public Hearings:  None 

 
Presentations/Delegations 
 
Citizens Comments: None    
 
County Commissioner’s Items 
Commissioner Ledford- None  
Commissioner Stunkel- None 
Commissioner Jernigan- None 
Commissioner Jones- None 
Chairman Henry- None  
  

Business Items: 
1. SPLOST Discussion- Chairman Henry stated that the County is suggesting that we keep the current 

allotments for the SPLOST Jasper County- 78%, City of Shady Dale 3%, & City of Monticello 19%.  

With an IGA we can collect for six years. Each government will need to present their projects. The 

county will put 100% of theirs towards Roads and Bridges.       

Two projections were considered: 
Last 24 months average with 5% escalator 72 Months Total Projected Revenue $10,465,570 
Last 36 months average with 5% escalator 72 Months Total Projected Revenue $9,387,614 
 
Mike Benton stated that the total collection for 54 months is $6,003,747. With an IGA there is no cap. 
Mr. Benton discussed the timeline for the deadline to get the information to the Election 
Superintendent. January 6th is the most critical timeline to get everything to the Election 
Superintendent. 

 
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to set the SPLOST amount to $9million. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously.  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes November 21, 2022 – Called Meeting  
 

2. HOST as an Alternative to LOST- County Attorney David Ozburn explained to all three entities how 
HOST works. This tax relief is applied to homesteaded properties. Cities do not get the relief however 
the residents in the city would receive the relief. The funds are not shared. 

 
Commissioner Stunkel stated that he would like to see all entities come together with open negotiations.  

 
Commissioner Ledford motioned to move forward with looking into HOST as an alternative to LOST. 
Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 
County Attorney Items: None  
 
County Manager Update: None  
 
Executive Session: None 
 
Adjourn: 
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to adjourn the meeting at 6:59 p.m. Commissioner Ledford seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously. 
 

___________________________ 

Bruce Henry, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon Robinson, Clerk       



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 5, 2022 – Regular Meeting  
 

        
   Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

December 5, 2022 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 
 
Chairman Henry called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
Commissioners Present: Bruce Henry, Chairman, Gerald, Stunkel, Vice-Chairman, Don Jernigan, Sheila Jones 

and Steven Ledford.  

Staff: Mike Benton, County Manager, Sharon Robinson, County Clerk, Larissa Ruark, Chief Accounting 

Officer, and David Ozburn, County Attorney.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 
Invocation:  Commissioner Bruce Henry 

 
Agenda Approval:  Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve the agenda with suggested changes of item# 1 
to the last item. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Consent Agenda:  
Commissioner Jones motion to approve the minutes for:     

• October 28, 2022 – Called Meeting Minutes  
• November 7, 2022- Regular Meeting Minutes 

Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve Check #s 66105-66366. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Public Hearings:  Commissioner Stunkel motioned to go into Public Hearing at 6:03 p.m. Commissioner 
Jernigan seconded the motion, passed unanimously.    
 

1. Minor Plat Approval- Parcel 046 063- Jordan Road  
Judy Johnson (P&Z Director) stood before the board to present the request for the Special Use Permit, 
2022-SU-003.   

  
Case Number:   MP22-026  
Location:  Jordan Road (parent parcel has road frontage on both Jordan and Goolsby Roads) 
Map & Parcel:  046 063 
Petitioner:   David Curry & Stacy Brownlee 
Commissioner District: 3 (Three) 
Acreage:   37.93 acres total  
Zoning:   AG (Agricultural) 

Request:  The request is to subdivide an existing 37.93-acre tract into 2 parcels of 18.97 acres each, one with 
391.81 feet of road frontage and the other with 371.53 feet of road frontage. 

 
For: 
David Curry- Stated that he is in favor of the split of this land because it exceeds all of the county 
standards.  
 
Opposed: 
None 
 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 5, 2022 – Regular Meeting  
 

Commissioner Stunkel motioned to close the Public Hearing at 6:09 p.m. Commissioner Jernigan 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 

Presentations/Delegations 
CGEMC- Fiber Internet Project Update- Hershel Arant presented updates regarding the fiber internet 

project. He stated that as if late October the fiber has been lit and there are areas in the county that are 

ready for the internet. He explained that once the resident receive the orange hangtag they will be ready 

for the final step of the installation. Mr. Arant also answered a few questions from the audience.  

Citizens Comments: 
Rob Alexander (Hillsboro): Mr. Alexander spoke out against the R2 zoning decision made at an earlier 
meeting. He addressed Commissioner Jernigan about an alleged comment made over the phone. He stated that 
the roads are inadequate and the roads department is inadequate.  
 
Gail Harrell (Monticello): Ms. Harrell stated that she wanted to go on record that she was speaking as a citizen 
and not the mayor tonight.  She spoke in favor of the R2 zoning. She stated that she believes there is room for 
compromise.  
 
Jamie Harrell (Liberty Church Road): Mr. Harrell stated that he lives in North Jasper and is against the R2 
zoning. He stated that he likes to think about the strategy. He stated he thinks the commissioners need to take a 
step back until after the land use map is updated. He suggested some frameworks for the county to consider.  
 
Katherine Alexander (Hillsboro): Ms. Alexander talked about the schools being full already. She stated that 
when we increase home out taxes will have to increase. She stated that in her opinion EMS is inadequate. She 
stated that low-income housing will push us towards what Henry County is.  
 
Cathy Benson (Monticello): Ms. Benson addressed Commissioner about Short- term rentals. She stated that 
Jackson and Covington is right around the corner for any one that needs a short–term rental. Ms. Benson 
accused that the commissioners have stolen her voice.  
 
Mary Patrick (Monticello): Ms. Patrick discussed the R2 zoning. She stated that the schools are full and we 
can’t keep the landfill open. She also talked about short-term rentals and no code-enforcement on the weekend. 
She talk about the Redevelopment Tax Incentive from her understanding.  
 
Linda Rudolph (Concord Road): Ms. Rudolph ask the commissioners about where they live. She addressed 
her opinion about the R2 zoning.  
 
James Belcher (Hillsboro): Mr. Belcher stood in support of the R2 zoning. He stated that the county will 
always be rural but growth is inevitable. He stated that businesses will not locate here without adequate housing 
for their employees. He did address the fact that not everyone have the same view as the people who oppose the 
R2 zoning.  
 
Frank Pfirman (Off Liberty Church): Mr. Pfirman stated that we have to be smart about growth. He stated 
that when he can’t take care of his property he will move.  
 
Vickie Wheeler (Monticello): Ms. Wheeler stated that she would not live in senior living. She wants to keep 
the county rural. She stated that if “these people” can’t live in a rural area they need to move somewhere else. 
She stated that she heard that Commissioner Stunkel said he didn’t care what the majority say.  
 
Jimmy Wheeler (Monticello): Mr. Wheeler stated that he moved here to escape high density. He stated that he 
don’t want to see a subdivision next to his property. He stated that we don’t need those kinds of houses or the 
kinds of people who are going to live in those houses down here. He stated that “We are not of that clan. We are 
independent people and don’t want to support anybody else”.  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 5, 2022 – Regular Meeting  
 

 
Jason Bunn (Benton Road): Mr. Bunn stated that he is new to the county. Changing rules for developers is 
what he ran from.  
 
John Henderson (Herds Creek Road): Mr. Henderson stated that he is opposed to the R2 zoning. He noted 
that small lots will struggle with septic and wells. More money would be needed to accommodate this. With 
more people there will be more crime. He stated that he is not accusing anyone of anything but it appears that 
there was something underhanded was going on.  
 
Connie Hollis (North Jasper County): Ms. Hollis stated that she pays some of the highest taxes in the county. 
She noted that she sent emails to all of the commissioners and only received one back. She said it looks like the 
board is trying to appease builders to come to our county, the landfill stays closed all of the time. She stated that 
don’t want to downsize. She wants to stay on her property.   
 
Ronnie Payne (212 East): Mr. Payne stated that the essential services can’t be paid for by the tax digest. We 
have no infrastructure.  
 
Ronald Lawrence (105 Benton Road): Mr. Lawrence stated that he moved here because it is rural. He 
mentioned some past Clayton County Commissioners. He suggested that Commissioner Stunkel “come out as a 
Democrat in the next election”. He stated that “they give some flunky a loan on the houses, foreclose on it, put 
section 8 in and bring the Democrat votes where they want them”. He stated that the commissioners are trying 
to bring democratic votes in with the cheap housing. He stated that he moved here because this is a red county.  
 
John Yates (Cedar Creek Drive): Mr. Yates stated that he moved here to get away from growth. Don’t grow 
for growth sake.  
 
County Commissioner’s Items 
Commissioner Ledford- Commissioner Ledford thanked everyone for coming out to the meeting.  
 
Commissioner Stunkel- Commissioner Stunkel thanked everyone for coming out as well. He made clear items 
where he was misquoted by the Tax Payer Dog Watch Group. He gave the time stamp and read what he said.  
 
Commissioner Jernigan- Commissioner Jernigan thanked everyone that came out. He mentioned that we have 
to look out for all the citizens of the county. He stated that if he did not want anyone living next to him, he 
would buy the acreage necessary to make that happen.  
 
Commissioner Jones- Commissioner Jones stated that being Democratic has nothing to do with decisions that 
are being made for all of the county. She made clear that District One is part of the county as well. She stated 
that it’s about ALL of the citizens. She stated that we as a county have to come together. She noted that she will 
continue to make the best decisions for the county as a whole. 
  
Chairman Henry- Nothing  
 

Business Items: 
Item 1: Board of Assessors Appointment:  Commissioner Jernigan motioned to reappoint Jim Stansell to the 
Position 1 of the Board of Assessors with his term ending January 3, 2026. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Item 2:  Environmental Health Annual Food Service Inspection Fees- Approval: Mr. David Mercer with 
the Jasper County Health Department. He stated that they are here to request approval of the new Food Service 
fee schedule. Mr. Rick Craft Deputy Director of Environmental Health presented the new cost to the board 
along with the growth that has happened. Mr. Craft also gave examples of how fees are determined.  
 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 5, 2022 – Regular Meeting  
 

Commissioner Stunkel motioned to approve the Environmental Health Annual Food Service Inspection Fee 
Schedule as presented. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed 4-0 (Commissioner Jernigan 
abstained as he serves on the Health Board).  
 
Item 3: Alcohol License Renewals:  
 

• Tyson’s Country Store, Application number 2023-A-001 located at 22044 Hwy 11 North., Monticello, 
GA 31064. Name of applicant: Lisa Whitaker Wilkerson – Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal – 
Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously. 

• Frank’s Restaurant, Application number 2023-A-002 located at 11818 Hwy 212 West Covington, GA 
30014. Name of applicant: Vivian Castellana Fuller – Pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. 
– Renewal – Commissioner Jones motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Ledford 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 

• Lakeview Marina, Application number 2023-A-003 located at 8726 Jackson Lake Road Monticello, 
GA 31064.  Name of applicant: Shabanali Jabbarcheloei – Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal – 
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Ledford seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously. 

• Lakeview Restaurant, Application number 2023-A-004 located at 8726 B Jackson Lake Road 
Monticello, GA 31064.  Name of applicant: Shabanali Jabbarcheloei – Pouring license for distilled spirits, 
beer, and wine. – Renewal - Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. 
Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 

• Convenience Stores, Inc dba Larry’s 4-Way, Application number 2023-A-005 located at 9160 Hwy 
212 West Monticello, GA 31064. Name of applicant: Joann Hedrick – Retail sales of beer and wine. – 
Renewal – Commissioner Jones motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Jernigan 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 

• Turtle Cove POA, Application number 2023-A-006 located at 222 Clubhouse Drive Monticello, GA 
31064. Name of applicant: David Michael Levee – Pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. – 
Renewal – Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Jones 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 

• Sac O Suds, Application number 2023-A-008 located at 54 Hwy 16W Monticello, GA 31064. Name of 
applicant: Cholista Owens - Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal - Commissioner Ledford motioned 
to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 

• Shane One Stop, Application number 2023-A-009 located at 8541 GA Hwy 142 Shady Dale, GA 
31085.  Name of applicant: Gautamkumar P. Patel - Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal - 
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Jones seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously. 

• Hillsboro Mini Mart, Application number 2023-A-012 located at 1750 Hwy 11 S, Hillsboro, GA 
31038. Name of applicant: Nizamuddin Kalya - Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal - Commissioner 
Jernigan motioned to approve the alcohol renewal. Commissioner Jones seconded the motion, passed 
unanimously. 

Item 4: Minor Plat Approval- Parcel 046 063- Jordan Road: Ms. Judy Johnson presented the request to the 
board. She stated that it meets all of the zoning requirements and was approved by the Zoning Commission 
unanimously.   
 
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the Minor Plat division for Parcel 046 063. Commissioner Jones 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Item 5: Ordinance Amendment Discussion- Parcel Division Approval Process:  Ms. Johnson stated that 
there was a request that came in regarding a recent ordinance amendment regarding the parcel division approval 
process specific to minor plats.  
 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 5, 2022 – Regular Meeting  
 

Commissioner Henry stated that he thinks up to three plats the P&Z director should be able to make those 
decisions.  
 
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to have P&Z staff to draft a change to the Parcel Division Approval Process 
and send it back to the P & Z Board for approval. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed 
unanimously.  
 
Item 6: Ordinance Amendment Discussion- R2 Zoning- Lot Size- Development Density: Ms. Johnson 
stated that a request has been made to staff to have the BOC and the Planning & Zoning Commission revisit the 
recent ordinance amendment regarding minimum lot size and house size in general and specific to modifying 
the R-2 zoning district. Staff is requesting direction.  
 
Commissioner Henry stated that it passed at the November 7th meeting. He stated that he had not heard of 
reducing the lot size.  
 
Commissioner Stunkel disagreed and reminded Commissioner Henry that he mentioned the reduction in lot 
sizes at two separate meetings.  
 
Mr. Henry stated that he don’t think the decision was open.  
 
Commissioner Henry made a motion to readdress the R2 zoning. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion.  
 
The motion was withdrawn. 
 
Commissioner Stunkel suggested having a first meeting between the BOC and P&Z Board for an open 
discussion of what the possibilities are.  
  
Item 7: Ordinance Amendment Discussion- Short Term Rentals: Ms. Johnson stated that on September 12, 
2022 the Ordinance was updated to add a definition for Short Term Rentals; however, the Board did not 
consider to add it to the Use Table in the Zoning Ordinance which means it is a prohibited use. There have been 
a request to go back to revisit the item.  
 
Commissioner Ledford stated that a resident approached him about short term rentals in a certain areas.  
 
Commissioner Henry stated he does not believe there was any interest in revisiting the subject.  
 
No action or discussion was made.  
 
Item 8: Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive Program Discussion: Commissioner Stunkel stated that 
in February 2021 staff (former P&Z) and council was instructed to work on code and it seemed to be dropped 
with the exit of the former director.  
 
Angela Walsh (Tax Commissioner) stated that we would need to make sure the tax is for residential properties.  
 
Ms. Judy Johnson stated that the tax cannot be applied to a primary residential home. The tax can be applied to 
landlord owned property. The process would start through Code Enforcement. The ordinance would spell out 
each step that it have to take 
 
Item 9: Software- Online Permitting and Work Flow Management- Planning & Zoning: Ms. Johnson 
presented her request for permitting software.  She presented the benefits of having using the permitting 
software by Q-public. The cost is built into a 3 year cycle.  The first year has a setup cost and a pro-rated 
hosting cost.  After that, it is just the hosting cost. 
  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 5, 2022 – Regular Meeting  
 

Year 1 February 1, 2023 – June 30, 2023: $17,993 (Setup: $15,288, Hosting: $2,705-prorated) 
Year 2 July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024: $6,492 
Year 3 July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2025: $6,492 
 
This allows unlimited users. It is much less than other comparable software.  
 
Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve the purchase of the online permitting and work flow management 
software, with the initial purchase coming from Fund Balance and incorporate into the budget for future years. 
Commissioner Jones seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Item 10: Landfill Compliance & Engineering Consulting Services- Triple Point Engineering- Annual 
Renewal: Tony Rodriguez spoke to the board about the Triple Point Engineering contract renewal.  
He stated that the release of formaldehyde will require additional compliance work. All other services remain 
the same. Most of the cost associated with corrective action can be reimbursed from the state’s trust fund.  
  
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to authorize Chairman to sign the contract for Triple Point Engineering 
Annual Renewal. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Item 11: 2023 County Holidays- Approval: Commissioner Stunkel motioned to approve the County Holidays 
removing Columbus Day and adding Good Friday back. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, passed 
unanimously.  
 
Item 12: County Personnel Policy Update: Ms. Robinson (HR Director) presented recent changes that have 
been made to the County Personnel Policy. She noted that the holiday schedule would need to be updated as 
well as the travel policy. In addition all of the commissioners would need to sign off for the changes.  
 
Commissioner Jernigan spoke about updating the social media policy.  
 
Ms. Robinson stated that we currently have a policy. She noted that she and Commissioner Jernigan spoke 
about creating a policy for the different boards.  
 
Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve resolution 2022.12.05B updating the personnel policy. 
Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Item 13: 2023 BOC Meeting Dates- Approval: Ms. Robinson presented the meeting dates for 2023. 
2023 Regular Meeting Dates: 
All meetings will begin at 6:00 p.m. 

• Monday, January 9th    

• Monday, February 6th   

• Monday, March 6th   
• Monday, April 3rd  

• Monday, May 1st 

• Monday, June 5th  

• Monday, July 3rd  

• Monday, August 7th       
• Monday, September 11th 

• Monday, October 2nd   

• Monday, November 6th   

• Monday, December 4th  
 
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to approve the 2023 meeting schedule as presented. Commissioner Jones 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 5, 2022 – Regular Meeting  
 

Item 14: Human Resources and County Boards Report:  
 
Ms. Robinson gave the Human Resources and Board Report. 
 
Item 15: Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings: A called meeting is scheduled for Friday, December 
16, 2022 at 9:00 a.m.  
 
County Attorney Items: Attorney Ozburn requested an Executive Session.  
County Manager Update: Mike Benton gave an updated of the numbers for building permits  
 
Executive Session: Commissioner Stunkel motioned to go into executive session at 8:23 p.m. for potential 
litigation. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to exit executive session at 8:34 p.m. Commissioner Ledford seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Adjourn: 
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to adjourn the meeting at 9:23 p.m. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously. 
 

___________________________ 

Bruce Henry, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon Robinson, Clerk       



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 16, 2022 – Called Meeting  
 

        
   Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

December 16, 2022 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

9:00 A.M. 
 
Chairman Henry called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 
Commissioners Present: Bruce Henry, Chairman, Gerald, Stunkel, Vice-Chairman, Don Jernigan, Sheila Jones 

and Steven Ledford.  

Staff: Mike Benton, County Manager, Larissa Ruark, Chief Accounting Officer, and David Ozburn, County 

Attorney.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 
Invocation:  Commissioner Don Jernigan 
 
Agenda Approval:  Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the agenda as presented. Commissioner Jones 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Consent Agenda: None 
 
Public Hearings:  None 

 

Presentations/Delegations 
 
Citizens Comments: 
Gail Harrell (Mayor- Monticello): Ms. Harrell stated that the city has come to a decision on the LOST 
percentage that they are willing to accept is 28%. She is ready to get this resolved and we can move on.  
 
Chris Florence: Chris Florence stated that there is a group of “super rich” people who are not from Jasper 
County who placed their business partner in a seat on the council. He stated that he is calling ‘a spade a spade’. 
He stated that we have a “chairman that ran unopposed that wants to change the rules for him and his butt 
buddies. He talked about a part of Clayton County being a war zone. He accused Commissioner Stunkel of 
being bribed.  
 
County Commissioner’s Items 
Commissioner Ledford- None  
Commissioner Stunkel- None 
Commissioner Jernigan- None 
Commissioner Jones- None 
Chairman Henry- None  
 

Business Items: 
Item 1: Barnsley Construction Group- GMP Contract Amendment – Sheriff’s Office & Jail Project:  
Robert with Barnsley Construction Group presented a GMP that is within the budget that was approved.  
 
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the Chairman to sign the Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment 
to the Construction Contract with Barnsley Construction Group for the Jasper County Sheriff’s Office and Jail 
project with the GMP of $9,046,952.00. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
 
Item 2:  Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax- Intergovernmental Agreement:  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes December 16, 2022 – Called Meeting  
 

Commissioner Jernigan motioned to adopt and authorize Chairman to Execute Resolution No. 121622-2024 
titled “Resolution Authorizing County Chairman to Execute 2024 SPLOST Intergovernmental Agreement”. 
Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 
 
Commissioner Ledford motion to stop the HOST proceedings. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, 
passed unanimously.  
 
Item 3: Local Option Sales Tax Certificate of Distribution –Percentage Allocation:  
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to allocate the LOST percentages  

• 69%- Jasper County Board of Commissioners 
• 28%- City of Monticello 
• 3%- City of Shady Dale 

Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.   
 
County Attorney Items: Attorney Ozburn requested an Executive Session for litigation.  
 
County Manager Update: Mike Benton stated that we have received nine applications for the Recreation 
Director position. We will start interviews next week. Our goal is to have a director in place and working Mid-
January to end of January.  
 

Executive Session: Commissioner Ledford motioned to go into executive session at 9:16 a.m. for potential 
litigation. Commissioner Jones seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to exit executive session at 8:34 p.m. Commissioner Ledford seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Adjourn: 
Commissioner Stunkel motioned to adjourn the meeting at 9:23 p.m. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the 
motion, passed unanimously. 
 

___________________________ 

Bruce Henry, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon Robinson, Clerk       



 

 
Consent Agenda – Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date: January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Approval of Check Register 
 
 
Summary: 
 
A check register will be generated by the finance department on meeting day for signature and approval to 
process the checks. 
 
Background: 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Approve processing of check #’s 66367-66659  
  
 
 
  



 
 
 
Public Hearings: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Planning and Zoning 
 
Date:   December 5, 2022 
 
Subject:  Minor Plat Division Approval Process  

 
Summary:  Consideration of an Ordinance Amendment to Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article 

II., Sec. 105-28 and Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article VI. subsection 105-160. 
Both code sections are regarding divisions of land under the Minor Subdivision (aka Minor Plat) 
regulations.  

 
 
 
Background:  Currently any division of land is required to go before the Planning Commission and the Board 

of Commissioners for approval. Based off of direction from the Board of Commissioners, the 
proposed amendment would amend the title from Minor Subdivision to Minor Plat and would 
allow for a certain number of lot divisions to be reviewed and approved by the Director of 
Planning & Zoning.  

 
 
 
Cost:    Required legal advertisement only 
 
 
  



  

1 
 

                                                                                                         Jasper County Planning & Zoning 
                                                                             126 W. Greene St. Suite 17     
                                                                             Monticello, GA 31064 

MEMO 
TO: Jasper County Board of Commissioners 
 

FROM: Judy Johnson, Director of P&Z 
 

DATE: 01/06/2023 
 

RE: Ordinance Amendment to Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article II., Sec. 105-28 
and Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article VI. subsection 105-160. Both code sections 
are regarding divisions of land under the Minor Subdivision (aka Minor Plat) regulations.  
 
 

Good Day Commissioners, 
 

The following information is regarding the text amendment for Minor Subdivision (aka Minor 
Plat).  The first section will show how the language reads since the Board of Commissioners 
adopted the former amendment on November 7, 2022.  The primary change was to require a 
Minor Plat to go through the same process as all other subdivision plats – for Pubic Hearings, 
review and approval at the Planning Commission meeting and then the Board of Commissioner’s 
meeting. 
 
The few changes are: 

1. To help keep down confusion, in the definition it will be called a Minor Plat and leave the 
word “subdivision” out.   

2. In the definition there is also a reference to the total number of times land can be divided 
under the Minor Plat within a certain amount of time.   

3. In the definition – the Planning Board recommended the total number of lots be capped 
at 3 that should be considered a Minor Plat and the timeframe land could not be further 
divided unless going through the public process.  The Board of Commissioners will set 
that number limit. 

4. The language for Section 105-160 reads the same as the proposal in October prior to the 
change when approved by the BOC in November. 

 



  

2 
 

5. SECTION 105-160 AS AMENDED AND ADOPTED 11/07/2022 
 

Section 105-160 - Minor Subdivision Design 
 

1. Application Requirements: 
A. Submit seven (7) paper copies and one (1) digital copy of the Plat and supporting data.  

 

The Plat shall meet the minimum standards for plat preparation including, but not limited, to:  
1. General 

     a. Name, address, and phone number of designer of subdivision plat. 
b. Name, address, and phone number of the owner and developer (if applicable) 
of subdivision. 
c. Name of subdivision or address of project location. 

 

B. Residential Subdivisions on State Routes require GDOT comments to be submitted to the 

Planning Department of Planning & Zoning along with the Residential Subdivision (aka Final) Plat.  
 

C. A letter requesting review and approval of a Minor Subdivision plat and giving the name and 

address of a person to whom the notice of hearing and action on the Minor Subdivision plat is to be 

sent. 
 

D. Official date of submission. The official date of submission of the Residential Subdivision plat will 

be the date of the next regularly scheduled monthly meeting of the planning commission that is 

more than 60 days following proper Residential Subdivision plat submittal to the director of 

planning. 
 

E. The planning commission will review the Residential Subdivision plat for conformance to this 

chapter, the county zoning ordinance set forth in chapter 119, and other relevant regulations and 

will consider the comments or suggestions of other appropriate review agencies, persons, or entities 

in regard to the plat. The planning commission or director of planning will indicate on the 

Residential Subdivision plat, or by a written memorandum attached to the Residential Subdivision 

plat, any comments or suggested changes that are necessary to meet the intent of this chapter or to 

serve the best interests of the county. 
 

F. Public hearing. Before acting on the Residential Subdivision plat, the planning commission will 

hear public input on the plat. Notice of the hearing must be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation in the county at least 15 days before the hearing. 
 

G. Action of the Board of Commissioners. No more than 60 days after the official date of 

submission of the Residential Subdivision plat, the Board of Commissioners will either approve the 

plat, conditionally approve the plat (noting the conditions of approval on the plat), disapprove the 

plat, or table the plat for further consideration. Action may be taken on the entire Residential 

Subdivision plat or any portion of it. 

 

H. Failure of Board of Commissioners to act. If the Board of Commissioners fails to act within 90 

days of the official date of submission of the Residential Subdivision plat, the plat will be deemed 

automatically approved by the Board of Commissioners. 

 

 



  

3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK  

TO SEPARATE PROPOSED AMENDMENT SHOWN 

BELOW 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

4 
 

ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
 

AN ORDINANCE BY JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA TO AMEND CHAPTER 105 DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
BY ADOPTING LANGUAGE AS DELINEATED BELOW; TO PROVIDE FOR CODIFICATION; TO REPEAL 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; TO PROVIDE AN ADOPTION DATE; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 
FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 

WHEREAS, the Jasper County, Georgia, hereinafter referred to as the (“County”) pursuant to 
Paragraph I, Section II, Article IX of the Constitution of the State of Georgia, known as the “Home Rule for 
Counties:, is authorized to adopt clearly reasonable ordinances, resolutions or regulations related to its 
property, affairs, and local government for which no provision has been made by general law and which 
are not inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable thereto, and; 

 
WHEREAS, Jasper County, Georgia has determined it beneficial and necessary to have well-

functioning ordinances to promote and manage development in the County; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF JASPER COUNTY, 

GEORGIA THAT THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA HEREBY ORDAIN: 
 
RESOLVED AND APPROVED by the Board of Commissioners of Jasper County, Georgia, this ____ 

day of January, 2023. 
 

SECTION I 
 

The Code of Ordinances of Jasper County, Georgia is hereby amended by revising the following 
definition to Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article II., Sec. 105-28 shown below: 
 

Minor Plat means a division of land into no more than 3 new lots, where no new streets are platted, 
constructed, or opened, no publicly-owned or central sewerage or water facilities are constructed, and 
no improvements of existing roads are planned. A Minor Plat does not include the further subdividing of 
a lot within a platted and recorded subdivision. This definition does not include land zoned O-I, C-1, C-2, 
or M as defined by Sec. 119-48 of Part II of the Code of Ordinances. Further dividing of land approved 
through the Minor Plat process within a 24-month period where the total number of lots would exceed 
the 3-lot limit previously approved shall follow for the Residential Subdivision process and require the 
review and approval of the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners.   

 
 

SECTION II 
 

The Code of Ordinances of Jasper County, Georgia is hereby repealed and replaced by adding the 
following language to Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article VI. new subsection 105-160 
 
Section 105-160 - Minor Plat Design 
1. Application Requirements: 

A. Submit 2 copies or a digital copy of the Minor Plat and supporting data to be reviewed by the 
Jasper County Planning and Zoning Office and applicable review agencies. The plat shall meet the 
minimum standards for plat preparation including, but not limited, to: 

1. General 



  

5 
 

    a.  Name, address, and phone number of the designer of subdivision plat. 
b. Name, address, and phone number of the owner and developer (if applicable) of 
subdivision. 
c. Name of subdivision or address of project location. 

 
B. Minor Subdivisions on State Routes require GDOT comments to be submitted to the Planning 
Department of Planning & Zoning along with the Minor (aka Final) Plat.  

 
C. Approval of a Minor Plat shall be deemed an expression of approval of the layout submitted, 
pending fulfillment of the requirements of these Regulations and the conditions of the Minor Plat, 
if any.  

 
D. If the Minor Plat is not recorded within 6 months of approval, the approval shall expire, unless 
a request for an extension of time has been submitted to and is subsequently approved by the 
Planning Commission in a public hearing. 

 

SECTION III 
 

The sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of this Ordinance are severable, and if any phrase, 
clause, sentence paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared illegal by the valid judgement 
or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such illegality shall not affect any of the remaining 
phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION IV 
 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby expressly repealed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

6 
 

SECTION V 
 

The adoption date of this ordinance amendment is upon creation. 
 

[SIGNATURE LINE BELOW] 
 

SO ORDAINED this ____ day of January, 2023 
        BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
        OF JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 

 
        ____________________________ 
        Bruce Henry, Chairman 
        District 2 
 
 

        ____________________________ 
        Shelia Jones, Commissioner 
        District 1 
 
 
        ____________________________ 
        Don Jernigan, Commissioner 
        District 3 
 
 

        ____________________________ 
        Gerald Stunkel, Commissioner 
        District 4 
 
 
        ____________________________ 
ATTEST:       Steven Ledford, Commissioner 
        District 5 
 

______________________________    {Jasper County, Georgia Seal} 
Sharon Robinson, County Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

______________________________S. David Ozburn, County Attorney 
 

 

 



 
 
Appointments – Item 1 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:   Appointment of Chairman 
 
Summary: 
The County Charter states in Section 1 C that: the board of commissioners shall, at its first meeting in January, 
elect a chairman from among its membership to serve for a one year term. 
 
Background: 
Same as Above 
 
Cost: None 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Board Discretion 
  



 
 
 
Appointments – Item 2 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:   Appointment of Vice-Chairman 
 
Summary: 
The County Charter states in Section 1 C that: the board of commissioners shall, at its first meeting in January, 
elect a vice-chairman from among its membership to serve for a one year term. 
 
Background: 
Same as Above 
 
Cost: None 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Board Discretion 
 
  



 
 
 
Appointments – Item 3 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:   Appointment of County Attorney 
 
Summary: 
The County Attorney Appointment is done at the first meeting each year for the attorney to serve for a one year 
term.   
 
Background: 
 
 
Cost: None 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Appoint David Ozburn of the firm, Ozburn Law Firm, LLC as County Attorney for 2023. 
 
  



 
 
Appointments – Item 4 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:   Appointment of County Clerk 
 
Summary: 
The Board of Commissioners needs to make a designation of County Clerk to serve for a one year term. 
Staff recommends appointing Sharon Robinson as County Clerk. 
 
 
Background: 
 
 
Cost:  
 
Recommended Motion:  
Appoint Sharon Robinson as County Clerk for 2023. 
  



 

Business Item 1:  
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:   
 
Date:   January 9, 2023  
 
Subject: Judicial Alternatives of Georgia Probation Services Agreement for Magistrate Court  
 
Summary:  
  
The Probation Agreement between Jasper County Magistrate Court and Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. is 
a five year agreement and must be reauthorized every five years. 
 
The agreement is being requested and has been signed by Judge Tim Lam, Magistrate Court Judge of Jasper 
County. 
 
 
 
 
Background: 
 
Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. provides probation supervision at no cost to Jasper County. 
 
 
 
Cost: 
 
No cost to Jasper County. 
All cost paid for by the Probationer. 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion(s): 
 
Authorize Chairman to sign the Probation Services Agreement between the Jasper County Magistrate Court and 
Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, Inc. under the authority of Georgia Code 42-8-101 for the period January 1, 
2023 thru December 31, 2027. 
  





























 
Business Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Planning and Zoning 
 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Minor Plat Division – Approval Process 
 
Summary:   
Consideration of an Ordinance Amendment to Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article II., 
Sec. 105-28 and Part II – Code of Ordinances, Chapter 105, Article VI. subsection 105-160. Both code 
sections are regarding divisions of land under the Minor Subdivision (aka Minor Plat) regulations.  
 
 
 
Background:   
Currently any division of land is required to go before the Planning Commission and the Board of 
Commissioners for approval. Based off of direction from the Board of Commissioners, the proposed 
amendment would amend the title from Minor Subdivision to Minor Plat and would allow for a certain 
number of lot divisions to be reviewed and approved by the Director of Planning & Zoning.  
 
 
 
Cost:     
Required legal advertisement only 
 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Given the Planning Commission recommended approval unanimously, Staff recommend approval. 
 
  



 
Business Item 3: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Planning & Zoning 
 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  R2 Zoning District Discussion 
 
Summary:  
 
Staff seeks direction from the Board of Commissioners on necessary adjustments to clear up any 
conflicting language in the Development Regulations and the Zoning Ordinance regarding a recent 
amendment that enacted a 1.2 acre lot and a 1,300 square foot home under the zoning district of R2.   
 
  
 
Background:   
 
On 01/05/2023 there was a joint work session held between the Board of Commissioners and the Planning & 
Zoning Board to discuss a recent amendment, adopted 11/07/2022, to the Development Regulations and the 
Zoning Ordinance regarding lot size and house size in the zoning district of R2.  
 
 
Cost:   
The required legal advertisement(s). 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Due to potential conflicts of language in the sections of the Zoning Ordinance and Development Regulations as 
it pertains to the R2 zoning district, Staff recommends enacting a Moratorium on the acceptance of zoning 
petitions in the R2 zoning district.  
 
If the majority will of the Board is to allow the R2 district to remain or be amended from what was recently 
adopted, the Moratorium would need to be for a period of time that allows for a re-write and advertisement (75 
days minimum) or until the Comprehensive Plan (which guides residential growth) has been completed 
(approximately October 2023).  Due to several potential suggestions from the work session of how to 
accommodate the needs in the community, staff prefers a longer Moratorium so that correct data can be 
gathered for consideration. 
  



Business Item 4: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  BOC 
 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Resolution Calling for an Election to Impose a County Special Purpose Local Option   
  Sales Tax 
 
Summary:  
 
Jasper County BOC, Monticello City Council and Shady Dale City Council executed an intergovernmental 
agreement on December 16, 2022 for the use and distribution of proceeds from the 2024 Special Purpose Local 
Option Sales Tax for Capital Outlay Projects. 
 
The 2024 SPLOST would be a continuation of the current one cent tax, not a new tax. 
 
Estimated Tax Proceeds $9,000,000 
Length of Tax   24 Quarters 
 
Proceeds Distribution 
Jasper County BOC  $7,020,000 
Monticello City Council $1,710,000 
Shadt dale City Council $270,000 
 
The 2024 SPLOST referendum will be placed on the March 21, 2023 ballot. 
 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
The current Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax expires March 31, 2024. 
 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Approve Resolution 2023.01.09, Resolution Calling for an Election to Impose a County Special Purpose Local 
Option Sales Tax 
  



Resolution No. 2023.01.09– Page 1 of 6 

Resolution No. 2023.01.09 

Resolution Calling for an Election to Impose a 
County Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF JASPER 
COUNTY, GEORGIA IMPOSING A COUNTY ONE PERCENT SALES AND 
USE TAX AS AUTHORIZED BY PART 1 OF ARTICLE 3 OF CHAPTER 8 OF 
TITLE 48 OF THE OFFICIAL CODE OF GEORGIA ANNOTATED, 
SPECIFYING THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH THE PROCEEDS OF SUCH 
TAX ARE TO BE USED; SPECIFYING THE PERIOD OF TIME FOR 
WHICH SUCH TAX SHALL BE IMPOSED; SPECIFYING THE 
ESTIMATED COST OF THE FACILITIES TO BE FUNDED FROM THE 
PROCEEDS OF SUCH TAX; SEEKING APPROVAL TO ISSUE GENERAL 
OBLIGATION DEBT; REQUESTING THE ELECTION 
SUPERINTENDENT TO CALL AN ELECTION OF THE VOTERS OF 
JASPER COUNTY TO APPROVE THE IMPOSITION OF SUCH SALES 
AND USE TAX; APPROVING THE FORM OF BALLOT TO BE USED IN 
SUCH AN ELECTION; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 
WHEREAS, Part 1 of Article 3 of Chapter 8 of Title 48 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated. (the “Act”) authorizes the imposition of a county one percent sales and use tax 
(the “SPLOST”) for the purpose, inter alia, of financing certain capital outlay projects 
which include those set forth herein; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Jasper County, Georgia (the “Board of 
Commissioners”) has determined that it is in the best interest of the citizens of Jasper 
County, Georgia (the “County”) that a one percent SPLOST be imposed in a special district 
within the County to raise approximately $9,000,000 for the purpose of funding capital 
outlay projects (the “Projects”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners delivered a written notice (the “Notice”) to the 
mayor in each municipality located within the County regarding the continuation of the 
SPLOST; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Notice contained the date, time, place, and purpose of a meeting at 
which designated representatives of the County and the City of Monticello, and the City 
of Shady Dale (“the Municipalities”) met and discussed the possible projects for inclusion 
in the referendum, including municipally owned and operated projects; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Notice was delivered or mailed at least 10 days prior to the date of the 
meeting, and the meeting was held at least 30 days prior to the issuance of a call for the 
referendum; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County has entered into an intergovernmental agreement with the 
Municipalities that are party to the Agreement; and 
 



Resolution No. 2023.01.09– Page 2 of 6 

WHEREAS, the Municipalities represent at least 20 percent of the total population of 
the County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Jasper 
County, Georgia as follows: 
 
(A) Assuming the question of imposing a County SPLOST is approved by the voters of the 
special district in the election hereinafter referred to, the SPLOST shall be imposed for 
the term, purposes and costs as follows: 
 

1. In order to finance the Projects described herein, a SPLOST in the amount of one 
percent (1%) on all sales and uses in the County is hereby authorized to be levied 
and collected within the special district created in the County as provided in the 
Act. 

 
2. The proceeds of such tax are to be used to fund the Projects. The Projects consist 

of “County Projects” and “Municipal Projects.” The County Projects, the Municipal 
Projects, and the Estimated Costs are set forth below: 

 
County Projects    Estimated Costs  

 
Roads and Bridges     $7,020,000 
 
     Total   $7,020,000 
 

Shady Dale Projects    Estimated Costs  
 
Water System Improvements   $50,000 
     
Roads       $220,000 
 
     Total   $270,000 
 

Monticello Projects    Estimated Costs  
 
Water and Sewer Improvements   $359,100 
     
Public Works/Storage Facility & 
City Facilities Upgrades    $273,600 
 
Infrastructure Improvements   $1,077,300 
 
     Total   $1,710,000 
 

3. The SPLOST is to be imposed for a period of six (6) years. 
 
 



Resolution No. 2023.01.09– Page 3 of 6 

 
(B) Call for the Election; Ballot Form; Notice. 
 

1. The election superintendent of Jasper County is hereby requested to call an election 
in all voting precincts in the County on the 21st day of March, 2023, for the purpose 
of submitting to the qualified voters of the County the question set forth in 
paragraph 2, below. 

 
2. The ballots to be used in the election shall have written or printed thereon 

substantially the following: 
 

“( ) Yes  Shall a special one percent sales and use tax be imposed in the special 
district of Jasper County for a period of time not to exceed 24 
quarters and for the raising of an estimated amount of $9,000,000 
for the purpose of (1) Jasper County Projects – Roads and Bridges -  
$7,020,000; (2) Municipality of Monticello Projects – Water and 
Sewer Improvements – $359,100, Public Works/Storage Facility and 
City Facilities Upgrades - $273,600, Infrastructure Improvements - 
$1,077,300, and, (3) Municipality of Shady Dale Projects -  Water 
System Improvements – $50,000, Roads - $220,000? 

( ) No”  
 
3. It is hereby requested that the election be held by the election superintendent of Jasper 
County in accordance with the election laws of the State of Georgia, including, without 
limitation, the election laws relating to special elections. It is hereby further requested 
that the election superintendent of Jasper County canvass the returns, declare the result 
of the election, and certify the result to the Secretary of State and to the state revenue 
commissioner. 
 
4. The election superintendent of Jasper County is hereby authorized and requested to 
publish a notice of the election as required by law in the newspaper in which sheriff’s 
advertisements for the County are published once a week for four weeks immediately 
preceding the date of the election. The notice of the election shall be in substantially the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 
 
(C) The clerk of the Board of Commissioners is hereby authorized and directed to deliver 
a copy of the resolution to the election superintendent of Jasper County, with a request 
that the election superintendent of Jasper County issue the call for an election. 
 
(D) The proper officers and agents of the County are hereby authorized to take any and 
all further actions as may be required in connection with the imposition of SPLOST. 
 
(E) The Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 

[signature line on following page] 

SO PASSED AND ADOPTED, this ____ day of January, 2023. 



Resolution No. 2023.01.09– Page 4 of 6 

 
 

___________________________________ 
Bruce Henry, Chairman 

  



Resolution No. 2023.01.09– Page 5 of 6 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

Resolution Number 2023.01.09 

 

The undersigned Clerk of the Jasper County Board of Commissioners, does hereby 
certify that the foregoing pages of typewritten matter constitute a true and correct copy 
of a resolution adopted by the Board of Commissioners of Jasper County, Georgia on 
January 9, 2023, at a meeting duly called and assembled and open to the public and at 
which a quorum was present and acting throughout, which resolution has not been 
modified, repealed, revoked or rescinded as of the date hereof. 

 

This ___ day of January, 2023. 

 

      
 _______________________________ 

County Clerk, Jasper County, Georgia 

 
  



Resolution No. 2023.01.09– Page 6 of 6 

Exhibit A 
 

NOTICE OF ELECTION 
 

TO THE QUALIFIED VOTERS OF JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on the 21st day of March, 2023, an election 
will be held at the regular polling places in all the election districts of Jasper County, 
Georgia (“the County”), at which time there will be submitted to the qualified voters of 
the county for their determination the question of whether a one percent county special 
purpose local option sales and use tax (the “SPLOST”) shall be imposed on all sales and 
uses in the special district created in the County for a period of 6 years for the raising of 
approximately $9,000,000 for the purpose of funding capital outlay projects (“the 
Projects”) specified in the form of the ballot set forth below. 
 
 The ballots to be used at said election shall have written or printed thereon 
substantially the following: 
 

“( ) Yes  Shall a special one percent sales and use tax be imposed in the special 
district of Jasper County for a period of time not to exceed 24 
quarters and for the raising of an estimated amount of $9,000,000 
for the purpose of (1) Jasper County Projects – Roads and Bridges -  
$7,020,000; (2) Municipality of Monticello Projects – Water and 
Sewer Improvements – $359,100, Public Works/Storage Facility and 
City Facilities Upgrades - $273,600, Infrastructure Improvements - 
$1,077,300, and, (3) Municipality of Shady Dale Projects -  Water 
System Improvements – $50,000, Roads - $220,000? 

( ) No” 
 

The several places for holding said election shall be at the regular and established 
voting precincts of the election districts of Jasper County, Georgia, and the polls will be 
open from 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. on the fixed date for the election. 
 

The last day to register to vote in this election shall be February 21, 2023. 
 
Those residents of Jasper County qualified to vote at said election shall be 

determined in all respects in accordance with the election laws of the State of Georgia. 
 

This notice is hereby given pursuant to a resolution of the Superintendent of 
Elections of Jasper County. 

 























Business Item 5: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  BOC 
 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Crack Sealing Bids Approval – Post Rd Sections 1, 2 & 3 
 
Summary:  
 
Crack Sealing Bids Received for Post Rd Sections 1, 2 and 3 
Blount Construction   $46,708.57 
Middle Georgia Asphalt Services $61,118.40 
MHB Paving    $88,750.00 
 
 
Background:  
 
2021 LMIG Program 
GDOT Funding   $533,232.43 
30% County Required Match  $159,969.73 
Grand Total Project Minimum $693,202.16 
 
Actual Expenditures 
Post Rd  1.76 Miles to SR 142 
Pintail Drive .16 Miles 
Grand Total    $668,468.21 
 
 
Remaining 2021 LMIG Funding Project 
2021 LMIG Project Minimum $693,202.16 
2021 LMIG Actual Expenditures $668,468.21 
Remaining for 2021 LMIG Projects $24,733.95 
 
 
 
Cost:   
2021 LMIG Projects Available Funding  $24,733.95 
Balance from 2018 SPLOST   Based on Bid Aawrd 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Award the 2023 Crack Sealing Post Rd Sections 1, 2 and 3 to Blount Construction in the amount of $46,708.57 
as presented. 
 
 
  



















Business Item 6: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Jasper County Senior Center 
 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Senior Center 2009 Ford E-350 Van Condition and Status Update 
 
Summary:  
 
Staff was instructed by the Board of Commissioners at the November 7, 2022 meeting to get a full and detailed 
report of what the cost would be to completely repair the van in working order, in order to see if it would be 
advantageous to keep the current van or replace it with a new one.   
 
As Senior Center Director, I would like to get BOC approval to purchase a new van because NEGRC—AAA, 
will not allow us to transport seniors in the current van due to the safety issues. Currenly, this van is NOT in 
use. 
 
A breakdown of our discovery is attached and the summary is listed below: 
 
Background:  
 
The Jasper County Board of Commissioners discussed the cost effectiveness in the up keep of the Jasper 
County Senior Center’s 2009 Ford Van. In November 2022, the Jasper County Senior Center presented the cost 
of repairs and estimates that totaled $5,422.93; the estimates that were presented did not reflect total repairs. 
 

• Our 2009 Ford Van currently has 258,125 miles. 
• As of 11/03/22, the back door will not open; AAA—NEGRC, will not allow the center 

to transport senior with this safety risk. 
• Repairs to date: $3,847.66 * ,  
• Needed Repair Estimate: $1,514.41—does not include Transmission 
• Grand Total: $5,422.93 
• Public Works’ Estimate--Michael Walsh’s (See Attached)  

$6,019.58—Public Works (Estimate includes parts and labor) 
$9,219.58—Contracted Work (Estimate includes parts and labor) 

 
 
Cost:   
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Board’s Discretion 
 
 
  





Business Item 7: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Recreation 
 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Amended Recreation Board Bylaws - Adoption 
 
Summary:  
 
Request for adopting the Amended Jasper County Recreation Board By-laws 
 
 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
Amended by the Jasper County Recreation Board on December 15, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Motion to Adopt the Jasper County Recreation Board Amended By-laws as Presented. 
 
 
 
 
  



Jasper County Recreation Association Board 

Mission Statement  

The mission of the Jasper County Recreation Association Board is to advise the Jasper County 

Commissioners, and assist the Recreation Director, and the Recreation Department in providing, 

establishing, maintaining, and conducting a county-wide public recreation program; to actively plan or 

present and 

facilitate county recreational program needs; to participate actively in local, state, and national recreation 

affairs; to educate the citizens of Jasper County by communicating information concerning development and 

progress of the recreation department. 

By-Laws 

Article I. Name and Address  

A. The name of this organization shall be the Jasper County Recreation Association Board. 
B. The physical address will be 246 Ted Saul's Road, Monticello, Georgia 31064 

Article II. Board Membership  

A. Composition: The Board shall be representative of the county and shall consist of five (5) members 

who shall be residents of Jasper County and who shall serve without compensation.  

B. Resignation: A member of the Board may resign his or her position by written notice delivered to the 

Chairman, who shall immediately notify the Board of Commissioners by providing a copy of said 

resignation notice. Resignations shall be effective immediately upon receipt by the Chairman. 

C. Qualifications: It is preferable that proposed appointees have a substantial record of 

involvement in recreation activities and /or knowledge of the activities governed by the 

Board. However, such qualifications are not a requirement for appointment to the Board but 

merely directive in nature.  

D. Terms of Office of Board Members. The term of office of members of the Board shall be 

for three (3) years. Members whose terms have expired shall continue to serve as members 

until their successors have been appointed by the Board of Commissioners. 

E. Reappointment. Reappointments shall be unrestricted and at the discretion of the Board of 

Commissioners. 

Article III. Officers  

A. Election of Officers. The Board shall elect, from its membership, a Chairman, Vice Chairman and 

other officers as may be desired, including but not limited to a Secretary and Treasurer. Officers 
shall be elected annually and shall serve for a term of one year, or until their successor is elected. 

Any and all officers thus elected may serve for consecutive years, if reelected. 

B. Duties and responsibilities 

1. The Chairman shall: 



(a) be the presiding officer and conduct all meetings of the Board 

(b) appoint standing committees as necessary to carry out the responsibilities of the 

Board 

(c) be a voting member of the Board 

2. The Vice-Chairman shall 

(a) perform the duties of the Chairman in the absence of the Chairman 

(b) be a voting member of the Board 

3. The Secretary shall: 

(a) keep records of minutes of the meeting of the Board, 

(b) have custody of its book and records, which shall be housed with the secretary, 

(c) take roll before each meeting noting excused or unexcused absences, 

(d) give notice to members of meetings, 

(e) attend to such other duties as may be assigned by the Board, and 

(f) be a voting member of the Board 

4. The Treasurer shall: 

(a) keep record of all revenues, expenditures, bank balances, and other information 

pertinent to the finances of the Board, 

(b) pay all charges and bills approved by the Recreation Board for payment (note that all 

checks require two (2) signatures, one of which shall be the Treasurer), 

(c) prepare or cause to be prepared and shall present to the Board a monthly financial 

statement of revenues collected, expenditures made, and bank balances, 

(d) be a voting member of the Board 

5. Public relation shall: 

(a) provide The Monticello News with meeting date, time and location and information 

concerning the recreation department as needed. 

(b) be a voting member of the Board. 

Article IV. Meeting, Quorum, Removal from Board, Appeals  

A. Meetings 

1. Regular monthly meetings of the Board shall be held the 3rd Monday of each month. 

2. Special called meetings of the Board may be held at any time at the call of the Board Chairman, of 

the Director, or by a majority of the voting members of the Board. 

3. All meetings are open to the public and must comply with the Georgia Open Meeting Law. 

Page 2 of 6 



4. All votes taken by the Board, regardless of the matter for which a vote is necessary, shall be made 

in public by a show of hands. Votes may not be taken or made by secret ballot. 

5. The Director and/or Assistant Director shall attend all meetings of the Recreation Board, but 

shall not vote on any matter.   

Quorum _ 

1. A quorum shall consist of 50% of the voting members plus one (1) voting member of the Board, and 

it shall be necessary that a quorum be present to conduct a meeting, discuss Recreation issues, hold a 

hearing, or take any action or vote. A majority of those present and voting shall be necessary to approve 

any action under consideration by the Board. 

C. Removal from the Board 

1. Absent from three (3) consecutive scheduled meetings by any member of the Recreation Board 

without due and acceptable excuse shall constitute a vacancy on the Board. The Chairman shall be 

notified of such vacancies and shall relay same to the Board of Commissioners. 

2. Conduct unbecoming a member as determined by the Board. 

3. Violation of the Rules and Regulation adopted by the Board and approved by the Board of 

Commissioners. 

4. Procedure for Removal: 

(a) In all cases of removal of a board member by the Board, such fact shall be noted in the minutes 

of the Board and the minutes shall reflect the effective date of the removal and said reasons. 

5. In all cases of removal by the Board, the member under review shall have the right to a hearing. Should 

the member request a hearing, it shall be held during the next scheduled regular meeting of the 

Recreation Board. During the hearing, which is open to the public, the Board may hear testimony and 

hear evidence necessary to make a determination. The member has the right to be represented by 

counsel during the hearing at their own expense. Following such hearing, the Recreation Board shall 

render its decision by taking a vote (in public) by a show of hands and the members shall be notified by 

written notice within five (5) business days of the hearing. The Board shall notify the Board of 

Commissioners of its decision to remove a Board member and provide the reason thereof. Once the 

Board has made its decision, the member will be given written notice of the Board's decision, to include 

the date by which the decision is effective, by certified mail-return receipt requested within five (5) days 

of the Board's decision. 

D. Appeals 

1. The member has the right to appeal the decision of the Recreation Board to the Board of Commissioners. 

Such appeal must be in writing and received at the office of the Board of Commissioners within 

fourteen (14) days following receipt of the notice of the decision from the Recreation Board. The 

Board of Commissioners, at its discretion may conduct a hearing regarding the appeal within 45 days 

of the date of the filing of the appeal. The member shall be notified in writing by the County Clerk as 

to the date, time and place of the Public Hearing. All hearings conducted by the Board of 

Commissioners are open to the public as provided for in the Georgia Open Meeting Law. The member 

shall have the right to be represented by counsel at the expense of the member. 

Page 3 of 6 



2. Following the hearing, the Board of Commissioners shall render its decision, and the member will 

be notified in writing within 14 day following the hearing. The decision of the Board of 

Commissioners shall be final. 

Article V. Meeting Agenda  

A. Unless otherwise determined by the Chairman, the order of business at regular meetings shall be 

determined by an agenda presented to members before the meeting begins. Any changes in the 

presented agenda will require a motion to amend that must be passed by majority of the voting 

members. Changes in order of business or dispensing with any item may be made by request and 

approval of the Board. The posting of the agenda for regular called and emergency meetings of the 

Board shall comply with the Georgia Open Meeting Law. 

B. Individuals who wish to be placed on the regular meeting agenda may do so by contacting the Director at 

least seven (7) days prior to the regular meeting, and must give the Director the subject to be discussed. If 

the subject is a complaint or violation, then the procedures in this document shall be followed. Individuals 

who wish to speak during the meeting about a topic on the agenda may sign up thirty (30) minutes 

immediately preceding the meeting. 

C. Individuals, wishing to make public comment, will be recognized for a maximum of three (3) minutes to 

present their subject, and no subject  

other than the stated subject on the agenda will be allowed. Unused time may not be given up to any other 

individual wishing to speak. 

Article VI. Meeting Minutes  

Meeting minutes shall be recorded and such records shall be open to public inspection once approved by the 

Board, but no later than immediately following its next regular meeting. Minutes shall include the names of the 

members present, a description of each motion or proposal, the names of the members making and seconding the 

motion or proposal, and a record of all votes to include, if not unanimous, the names of the persons voting for or 

against such motion or proposal. Meeting minutes shall be in accordance with the Georgia Open Meeting Act. 

Article VII. Rules of Procedure 

The Board shall conduct all meetings and activities according to parliamentary law as stated in the Roberts's 

rules of Order, Revised, unless otherwise specified. In addition, all meetings and actions taken during such 

meeting shall comply with the Georgia Open Meeting Act. 

Article VIII. Conflict of Interest  

Any Board member who has a conflict of interest on any given issue shall announce the existence of conflict 

prior to discussion of the issue and shall refrain from discussing or voting on that issue. 

Article IX. Duties, Powers, and Enforcements  

A. Duties. The duties of the Board shall include but not limited to, the following: 

Page 4 of 
6 



1. To advise and recommend ways and means by which recreation programs may be improved or 

strengthened. 

2. To develop new programs and activities as public may dictate, 

3. To develop a system of fees and charges for use of outdoor recreation facilities for participation in  

recreation programs, and 

4. Other duties and responsibilities as may be directed by the Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

from time to time. 

B. Power and Jurisdiction. 

In order to perform the duties, the Board shall have the following authority: 

1. To adjudicate complaints, disputes or other grievances from the public arising out of recreation 

activities and to conduct such review hearings per resolution. 

2. To adopt by-laws and other rules of procedure to achieve its purpose and function, with final approval 

by the Board of Commissioners. 

3. To establish rules governing participating in recreation programs and the consequences for failure to 

follow aforementioned rules. 

4. To evaluate programs and activities from year to year with the evaluation method to be determined by 

the recreation department. 

C. Enforcement. The primary responsibility for the enforcement of these By-Laws shall be vested in the 

Director with approval of the Board. 

Article X. Amendments  

A. By -Laws. By-Laws may be amended by the Jasper County Recreation Association Board. 

B. Amendments. Amendments to these By-Laws must be submitted in writing to the Jasper County 

Recreation Association Board at a regularly scheduled meeting. 

C. Approval by Board of Commissioners. Proposed amendments must be reviewed and approved by the 

Board of Commissioners prior to any action being taken by the Recreation Board. 

Page 5 of 6 



Adoption  

These By-Laws are adopted by a vote of __ to __during a called meeting of the Jasper County Recreation 
Board held on ______________________________ and are effective following the adoption of same by 
the Jasper County Commissioners. 

Jasper County Recreation Board 

 
 
 
Sheila Gantt-Jones  
Chai rman 

Certification of Adoption by the Board of Commissioners 

This is to certify that the above By-Laws and the attached Appendence A were approved and adopted by the 
Jasper County Board of Commissioners by a vote of 4 to 0, during a regularly scheduled meeting held on 
February 4, 2019. 

  
 

• By-Laws were amended on June 4, 2018 to raise membership from 5 to 7 members.  

• By-Laws were amended on February 4, 2019 to raise membership from 7 to 9 members. 

• By-Laws were amended on August 2, 2021 to decrease membership from 9 to 7 members. 

• By-Laws were amended on June 6, 2022 to decrease membership from 7 to 5 members. 

Page 6 of 6 



Business Item 8: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  BOC 
 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
 
Subject:  Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings 
 
Summary:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
 
 
 


	Binder1
	Agenda Packet January 9, 2023
	MONTICELLO, GEORGIA
	*** The meeting will be live streamed Via Facebook on the Jasper County Georgia Facebook Page.


	Agenda Detail 2 - Minor Plat
	Binder1
	Agenda Detail 4.1 - 2024 SPLOST Resolution Calling for SPLOST v.1.6.23 - final
	Agenda Packet January 9, 2023


